### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ARTEMIS EXPLORATION COMPANY, A Nevada Corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

RUBY LAKE ESTATES HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION,

Respondent,

No. 77721

Electronically Filed Apr 23 2019 02:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Appeal from Fourth Judicial District Court, Division 2 Case No. CV-C-12-175

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

TRAVIS W. GERBER, NSB 8083 twg@gerberlegal.com ZACHARY A. GERBER, NSB 13128 zag@gerberlegal.com GERBER LAW OFFICES, LLP 491 4<sup>th</sup> Street Elko, NV 89801 (775) 738-9258 Attorneys of record for Appellant ARTEMIS EXPLORATION COMPANY, a Nevada Corporation

#### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this case pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(8) because it is an appeal from a "special order entered after final judgment." The action was commenced in the Fourth Judicial District Court for the County of Elko, State of Nevada, and that Court entered Final Judgment on February 26, 2018, and an Order Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs and a Judgment for Attorney's Fees and Costs in Favor of Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association, from which this appeal is taken.

The appeal is timely because the Order Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs was entered on November 1, 2018, and the Notice of Entry of Order was filed on November 14, 2018; the Judgment for Attorney's Fees and Costs in Favor of Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association was entered on December 3, 2018, and the Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed on December 5, 2018; and the Notice of Appeal was filed on December 14, 2018.

## II.

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This is a matter that is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7).

III.

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

A. Whether the District Court is prohibited from awarding and abused its discretion by awarding Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association attorney's fees and costs based upon Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association countersuit after the District Court dismissed the countersuit and expressly ordered that no attorney's fees or costs would be awarded based upon the countersuit.

B. Whether the District Court is prohibited from awarding Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association attorney's fees and costs pursuant to NRS 116.4117 when Artemis Exploration Company's Declaratory Relief claim was not brought under NRS 116.4117.

C. Whether the District Court is prohibited from awarding and abused its discretion by awarding Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association attorney's fees and costs in District Court Case No. CV-C-11-147, a prior case that was voluntarily dismissed to allow arbitration; attorney's fees and costs in the non-binding arbitration; attorney's fees and costs for Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association's counterclaims, which were voluntarily dismissed; and attorney's fees and costs for Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association's staff and duplicative time and redacted slips.

#### III.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Ruby Lake Estates subdivision was organized in 1989 without a homeowner's association. Its Declaration does not describe any common elements or any obligation to pay for any common elements. All 51 lots within the subdivision were conveyed to owners by February 1990. Appellant, Artemis Exploration Company ("Artemis"), purchased two of the lots within Ruby Lake Estates subdivision. In 2006, a group of lot owners organized Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") and began assessing mandatory dues and compelling payment under threat of lien and foreclosure.

Artemis filed District Court Case No. CV-C-11-147 in 2011, which was voluntarily dismissed to allow for non-binding arbitration. Non-binding arbitration was subsequently held, and a decision was made in RLEHOA's favor on February 7, 2012. Artemis then filed this case on March 2, 2012, District Court Case No. CV-C-12-175, which includes a single cause of action for declaratory judgment to determine whether Ruby Lake Estates subdivision is a common-interest community pursuant to NRS 116.021 and whether Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") is a valid unit-owners' association pursuant to NRS 116.3101(1).

Artemis and RLEHOA submitted Motions for Summary Judgment regarding Artemis's Declaratory Judgment claim. The District Court denied Artemis's Motion

- 1 -

and entered its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on February 14, 2013.

RLEHOA filed counterclaims and a cross-claim; however, RLEHOA voluntarily dismissed the counterclaims and cross-claim, the District Court ordered dismissal of the counterclaims and cross-claim, and the District Court ordered that no attorney's fees and costs would be awarded as to the counterclaims and cross-claim. On February 26, 2018, the District Court entered its Final Judgment, from which an appeal is pending in the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada, Case No. 75323.

On November 1, 2018, the District Court entered its Order Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs ("Attorney's Fees Order") and on December 3, 2018, entered a Judgment for Attorney's Fees and Costs in Favor of Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("Attorney's Fees Judgment") that repeated the November 1, 2018 Attorney's Fees Order. The District Court's Order and Judgment erroneously awarded attorney's fees pursuant to NRS 116.4117 stating "Defendant's countersuit for a declaration of validity constitutes a civil action for 'appropriate relief' that is obviously necessary for the collection of assessments authorized by governing documents." This was error and an abuse of discretion because the Defendant's countersuit was dismissed and it was stipulated and ordered in the Stipulation and Order for Dismissal of Counterclaims and Cross-Claim Without Prejudice,

Withdrawal of Pending Motions, and for Final Judgment, entered on February 26, 2018, that RLEHOA is prohibited from receiving an award of attorney's fees and costs relating to the countersuit. The District Court also erroneously awarded attorney's fees and costs based upon NRS 116.4117; an earlier dismissed case; a non-binding arbitration award; and staff and duplicative time and redacted slips.

#### IV.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Ruby Lake Estates is a rural subdivision of 51 lots. The Plat Map for Ruby Lake Estates was recorded on September 15, 1989, as file No. 281674, and all roads within the subdivision were dedicated to the County of Elko, as stated on the Plat Map. (Vol. 3, Appellant's Appendix ("AA"), Pgs. 176-178.) The Plat Map does not provide for the organization of a unit-owner's association or describe any obligation to pay for any common elements, other units, or other real estate. (*Id.*)

2. The Declaration of Restrictions and Covenants of Ruby Lake Estates subdivision ("Declaration") was recorded on October 25, 1989. (3 AA 179-184.) The Declaration does not describe the formation of a unit-owner's association or any obligation to pay for any common elements, other units, or other real estate. (*Id.*)

3. On December 15, 1989, the first lots in Ruby Lake Estates were conveyed, when forty-nine (49) of the fifty-one (51) lots were conveyed by deed from the Declarants, Stephen G. Wright and Mavis S. Wright, to Cattlemen's Title Guarantee

- 3 -

Company. (3 AA 185.) On February 12 and 15, 1990, Declarants conveyed the remaining two (2) lots to property owners. (3 AA 186-188.) Thus, all fifty-one (51) lots in Ruby Lake Estates were deeded and conveyed by February 15, 1990.

4. Artemis purchased Lot 6 of Block G of Ruby Lake Estates on June 16, 1994. (3 AA 189-190.)

5. In 2006, Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") was organized by a group of lot owners, 17 years after Ruby Lake Estates subdivision was created and all lots were conveyed. (3 AA 191-192.) RLEHOA began assessing mandatory dues against lot owners under threat of lien and foreclosure.

6. On March 9, 2010, Artemis acquired Lot 2 of Block H of Ruby Lake Estates from a previous lot owner. (3 AA 193-194.)

7. On February 15, 2011, Artemis filed a Complaint that included a claim for Declaratory Judgment in the District Court, Case Number CV-C-11-147. (1 AA 1-20.)

8. On April 1, 2011, a Stipulation and Order to Dismiss Complaint Without Prejudice was entered, dismissing Case Number CV-C-11-147. (1 AA 21-23.)

9. On February 7, 2012, a non-binding Arbitration Award was entered in favor of RLEHOA. (3 AA 195-198.)

10. On March 2, 2012, Artemis filed the instant case and claim for Declaratory Judgment in the District Court, Case Number CV-C-12-175. (1 AA 24-49.)

- 4 -

11. RLEHOA answered and filed counterclaims on April 2, 2012. (1 AA 51-72.)

12. On February 14, 2013, the District Court entered summary judgment in favor of RLEHOA on Artemis's Declaratory Judgment Claim. (1 AA 81-102.)

13. On February 26, 2018, the District Court entered the Stipulation and Order for Dismissal of Counterclaims and Cross-Claim Without Prejudice, Withdrawal of Pending Motions, and for Final Judgment, which dismissed RLEHOA's counterclaims and cross-claim and ordered that all Parties were required to "bear their own fees and costs incurred in the prosecution and/or defense of the Counterclaims and Crossclaim." (1 AA 236-244.)

14. On February 26, 2018, the District Court entered Final Judgment. (2 AA 1-11.)

15. On March 6, 2018, Artemis and Harold and Mary Wyatt filed their Notice of Appeal in Supreme Court Case Number 75323. (2 AA 12-14.)

16. On November 1, 2018, the District Court entered its Order Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs in favor of RLEHOA and based upon RLEHOA dismissed counterclaims. (3 AA 1-82.)

17. On December 3, 2018, the District Court entered its Judgement for Attorney's Fees and Costs in Favor of Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association, which repeated its November 1, 2018 Order. (3 AA 167-168.)

- 5 -

18. On December 14, 2018, Artemis filed its Notice of Appeal initiating this appeal. (3 AA 173-175.)

#### V.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

First, Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") is not entitled to any attorney's fees and costs based upon its counterclaims because RLEHOA stipulated and the District Court ordered in the Stipulation and Order for Dismissal of Counterclaims and Cross-Claim Without Prejudice, Withdrawal of Pending Motions, and for Final Judgment that the counterclaims were voluntarily dismissed and that RLEHOA was not entitled to any attorney's fees and costs related to the counterclaims.

Second, Artemis Exploration Company's Declaratory Relief Claim was not brought under NRS 116.4117, and therefore the District Court is prohibited from awarding RLEHOA attorney's fees and costs pursuant to NRS 116.4117.

Third, attorney's fees and costs should not be awarded in District Court Case No. CV-C-11-147, a prior case that was voluntarily dismissed to allow arbitration; from a non-binding arbitration award; from Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association's counterclaims, which were voluntarily dismissed; and for Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association's staff and duplicative time and redacted slips. VI.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL**

This appeal is from the District Court's Order Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs that erroneously relied on NRS 116.4117. "The established rule is that a court may not award attorney's fees unless authorized by statute, rule or contract." *State, Dep't of Human Res., Welfare Div. v. Fowler*, 109 Nev. 782, 784, 858 P.2d 375, 376 (1993). "The construction of a statute is a question of law, which [this Court] review[s] de novo." *MGM Mirage v. Nevada Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 125 Nev. 223, 226, 209 P.3d 766, 768 (2009); *see also R Ventures I, LLC v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 393 P.3d 660 (Nev. 2017) (unpublished disposition) (Upholding a district court's denial of attorney's fees based upon the interpretation of a provision of NRS 116.).

Furthermore, an "award of attorney fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law." *MB Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 8, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016) (internal citations omitted); *see also Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp.*, 496 U.S. 384, 405, 110 S. Ct. 2447, 2461, 110 L. Ed. 2d 359 (1990) ("A district court would necessarily abuse its discretion if it based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law ...").

#### VII.

#### ARGUMENT

A. The District Court is prohibited from awarding and abused its discretion by awarding Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association attorney's fees and costs based upon Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association countersuit when the countersuit was previously dismissed.

Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs based upon its countersuit because it stipulated to forgo any such fees and costs and it voluntarily dismissed its countersuit, which the District Court ordered.

The District Court erred and abused its discretion because RLEHOA stipulated to dismiss its counterclaims and cross-claim in the Stipulation and Order for Dismissal of Counterclaims and Cross-Claim Without Prejudice, Withdrawal of Pending Motions, and for Final Judgment. (1 AA 238, 240.) RLEHOA also "stipulate[d] and agree[d] to bear [its] own fees and costs incurred in the prosecution and/or defense of the Counterclaims and Crossclaim." (*Id.*) On February 26, 2019, the District Court Judge Ordered that RLEHOA's counterclaims and cross-claim were dismissed, and that the parties were not entitled to their attorney's fees and costs regarding the counterclaims and cross-claim. (*Id.*)

Moreover, RLEHOA argued in its own Motion for Attorney's Fees that it is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs based upon its counterclaims. RLEHOA expressly stated in its Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs that it is "not seeking fees or costs specific to the prosecution of its now dismissed Counterclaims and Cross-Claim." (2 AA 18 ft. 3.)

Despite RLEHOA's dismissal of its counterclaims, RLEHOA's agreement and argument that it is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs regarding the counterclaims, and the District Court's Order to the same effect, the District Court erred and abused its discretion by granting RLEHOA attorney's fees and costs based on RLEHOA's counterclaim in its November 1, 2018 Order Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs:

Defendant's **countersuit** for a declaration of validity constitutes a civil action for "appropriate relief" that is obviously necessary for the collection of assessments authorized by governing documents.

(3 AA 3-4) (emphasis added). This is error and an abuse of discretion because the District Court awarded attorney's fees and costs based upon a counterclaim that it previously dismissed and when the Court had previously ordered that no party would be awarded attorney's fees and costs in relation to the dismissed counterclaim.

Therefore, the District Court's Order and Judgment Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs must be reversed because the countersuit that the District Court relies upon for an award of attorney's fees and costs was dismissed by the Parties and the District Court, and all Parties and the District Court had previously stipulated and ordered that no attorney's fees and costs would be awarded as to the dismissed countersuit.

## B. The District Court is prohibited from awarding Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association attorney's fees and costs pursuant to NRS 116.4117.

RLEHOA is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs based upon NRS 116.4117 because the only claim in the case—Artemis's Declaratory Judgment Claim—was brought pursuant to NRS 30.010 *et. seq.* 

When only one cause of action is brought pursuant to NRS 30.010 *et. seq.*, an Order awarding attorney's fees and costs under NRS 116.4117 is inapplicable because no claims were brought under NRS 116.4117. *See R Ventures I, LLC*, 393 P.3d at 660 (unpublished disposition) (*citing to Pursuant To*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (equating "pursuant to" with "[a]s authorized by" or "under")); *See also Bank of Am., N.A. v. Treasures Landscape Maint. Ass'n*, No. 216CV380JCMNJK, 2017 WL 3116233, at \*3 (D. Nev. July 21, 2017) (denying attorney's fees under NRS 116.4117 because declaratory relief claim was brought pursuant to NRS 30.010 *et. seq.*, even though the case may have relied on NRS 116.4117).

Artemis brought and maintained a single cause of action for declaratory relief, which was the only claim decided by the District Court in this case. (1 AA 20; 2 AA 2.) The declaratory relief claim was brought pursuant to NRS 30.010 *et seq.* as previously determined by the District Court. (1 AA 114:1-5.); *R Ventures I, LLC*, 393 P.3d at 660 (unpublished disposition); *Bank of Am., N.A.*, 2017 WL 3116233, at \*3. Therefore, it was error<sup>3</sup> and the District Court abused its discretion in awarding RLEHOA attorney's fees and costs under NRS 116.4117. (3 AA 5:19.)

The District Court also found that RLEHOA's counterclaims were claims of "appropriate relief" that were brought pursuant to NRS 116.4117. (3 AA 3-4.) However, this was error because as explained above, the District Court had previously dismissed the counterclaims and expressly ordered that no attorney's fees and costs would be awarded as to the dismissed counterclaims. (1 AA 238, 240)

Consequently, RLEHOA is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs under NRS 116.4117 because the only cause of action was brought pursuant to NRS 30.010 *et seq.*, not NRS 116.4117, and therefore NRS 116.4117 is not applicable in this case. *State, Dep't of Human Res., Welfare Div.*, 109 Nev. at 784; *R Ventures I, LLC*, 393 P.3d at 660 (unpublished disposition).

# C. The District Court is prohibited from awarding and abused its discretion by awarding Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association specific attorney's fees and costs.

In addition to the principal arguments above, RLEHOA is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs specifically for: 1) attorney's fees and costs incurred in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Given the District Court's misinterpretation of NRS 116.4117, this Court's review is de novo. *MGM Mirage*, 125 Nev. at 226; *see also R Ventures I, LLC*, 393 P.3d at 660 (unpublished disposition).

District Court Case No. CV-C-11-147, a prior case that was voluntarily dismissed; 2) attorney's fees and costs incurred in a non-binding arbitration; 3) attorney's fees and costs incurred in the prosecution of Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association's counterclaims, which were voluntarily dismissed; and 4) attorney's fees and costs incurred for Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association's staff and duplicative time and redacted slips.

# 1. The District Court is prohibited from awarding attorney's fees and costs that RLEHOA incurred in a separate action, District Court Case No. CV-C-11-147.

The District Court erroneously awarded RLEHOA \$2,796 in attorney's fees and \$821.24 in costs in District Court Case Number CV-C-11-147 that was dismissed on April 1, 2011. (1 AA 49-50, 53.) The award of \$3,617.24 in fees and costs was entered in direct violation of NRCP 54.

NRCP 54(d)(2)(B)(i) requires that a Motion for Attorney's Fees must "be filed no later than 21 days after written notice of entry of judgment is served . . . ." NRCP 54(d)(2)(C) states that the "court may not extend the time for filing the motion after the time has expired."

On February 15, 2011, Artemis initiated District Court Case Number CV-C-11-147 by filing a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment. (1 AA 1-20.) On April 1, 2011, a Stipulation and Order to Dismiss Complaint Without Prejudice was entered, dismissing Case Number CV-C-11-147. (1 AA 21-23.) The Stipulation was signed and jointly submitted by RLEHOA's counsel. (*Id.*) The District Court did not extend the time for filing a motion for attorney's fees in Case Number CV-C-11-147, and RLEHOA did not file a Motion for Attorney's Fees by April 22<sup>nd</sup>, 2011, which was 21 days after entry of the Stipulation and Order to Dismiss Complaint Without Prejudice.

Consequently, the District Court violated NRCP 54(d)(2)(B)(i) and NRCP 54(d)(2)(C) by awarding \$3,617.24 in fees and costs over seven and a half years after Case Number CV-C-11-147 was dismissed, which was more than 21 days after the case was dismissed.

# 2. The District Court is prohibited from awarding attorney's fees and costs that RLEHOA incurred in a non-binding arbitration.

The District Court erroneously awarded RLEHOA \$19,296 in attorney's fees and \$3,897.43 in costs in the non-binding arbitration. (3 AA 50-55.) The award of \$23,193.43 in fees and costs was entered in direct violation of this Court's prior Order and NRS Chapter 38.

First, this Court previously rejected the District Court's award of attorney's fees and costs from the non-binding arbitration. In this Court's Order to Show Cause dated October 7, 2013, this Court ruled:

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