IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ARTEMIS EXPLORATION COMPANY, a Nevada corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

RUBY LAKE ESTATES HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jun 21 2019 01:29 p.m.

Case No. 77721 Elizabeth A. Brown
District Court Case No. lerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Fourth Judicial District Court, Department 2
The Honorable Alvin R. Kacin, District Court Judge
District Court Case No. CV-C-12-175

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

KAREN M. AYARBE, ESQ., NSB 3358 kayarbe@lkglawfirm.com LEACH KERN GRUCHOW ANDERSON SONG 5421 Kietzke Lane, Suite 200 Reno, Nevada 89511 Tel: (775) 324-5930

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. Because Artemis' claims before the Ombudsman's Office, Judge Gang, the district court, and the Nevada Supreme Court concerned the interpretation of RLEHOA's CC&Rs, the applicability of Chapter 116, the levying and collection of assessments by the Board pursuant to that chapter, and Artemis' failure and refusal to pay those assessments, the district court properly awarded fees and costs pursuant to NRS 116.4117, NRS 18.020, and NRS 18.050.
- 2. Where the evidence supports a finding that RLEHOA incurred common expenses in the form of fees and costs as a direct result of Artemis' misconduct, this Court can likewise affirm the district court's *Fee Order* based upon NRS 116.3115(6).
- 3. Where the CC&Rs clearly provide a contractual basis for an award of fees and costs, this Court can alternatively affirm the district court's *Fee Order* based upon the CC&Rs.

4. Where the evidence supports a finding that Artemis initiated the action without a reasonable basis, this Court can alternatively affirm the district court's *Fee Order* based upon NRS 18.010 (2)(b).

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background Facts.

- 1. Artemis is a Nevada corporation, whose President, Secretary, Treasurer, and sole director was Elizabeth E. Essington. Volume 1 Respondent's Appendix at 44-45 (hereinafter "__RA__"). Mrs. Essington's husband was George "Mel" Essington, who had full authority to act on behalf of Artemis. 1RA85, 94-95
- 2. Stephen and Mavis Wright ("the Wrights") recorded the official Plat Map for Ruby Lake Estates ("RLE") in Elko County September 15, 1989. 2RA336-340
- 3. With respect to the roadways, Sheet 1 of 3 of the Plat Map unambiguously states:

At a regularly held meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Elko County, State of Nevada, held on the 5th day of July, 1989, this Plat was approved as a Final Plat pursuant to NRS 278.328. The Board does hereby reject on behalf of the public all streets or roadways for maintenance purposes and does hereby accept all streets and easements therein offered for utility, draining and access purposes only as dedicated for public use.

3AA176-178. (*emphasis added*.)

- 4. Elko County has never accepted the roads within RLE for maintenance. *Id.*; 1RA59-60, 64-65, 107-108, 153-154, 173, 175; 2RA210, 221, 250
- 5. Notwithstanding this fact, Elko County requires the roadways and adjoining ditches and culverts be maintained for health and safety reasons. 1RA59-60, 64-65, 107-108, 153-154, 173, 175; 2RA210, 221, 250, 402
- 6. Pursuant to Elko County Code § 12-5-1,³ Elko County is authorized to use "any appropriate means" to maintain the roads, such as those in RLE. Elko County Code § 12-5-1; *see also* 1RA59-60 The "appropriate means" employed by Elko County is the requirement that roads within subdivisions, such as RLE, be maintained either through a road maintenance agreement and government improvement district ("GID") or by a common-interest community association. 1RA59-60, 64-65
- 7. Maintenance of roadways by Elko County through a road maintenance agreement or GID, and having those costs collected through real property taxes, is much more expensive to homeowners than maintaining the roads through a common-interest community association.

1RA59-60

This code has since been repealed, but it was relevant and pertinent during the applicable time-period.

- 8. The Ruby Lake Estates Fire Risk and Hazard Assessment Report prepared as part of the Fire Plan for Elko County shows RLE to be in the "High Hazard" category for fire risk. 2RA416-425. This report calls for fuels reduction treatment on a community basis and calls for the formation "of a local community based organization to provide leadership and be responsible for community wide fuels reduction and community fire safety." 2RA423
- 9. On October 25, 1989, the Wrights recorded the CC&Rs for RLE in the Office of the Elko County Recorder in Book 703, Page 287. 3AA179-184.
- 10. Artemis acquired Lot G-6 within RLE June 21, 1994 and Lot H-2 March 9, 2010. 3AA189-190.
- 11. On December 12, 2001, the Wyatts purchased Lot F-5 within RLE.
- 12. The lots purchased by Artemis and the Wyatts were created by the Plat Map and are subject to the CC&Rs. 3AA179-184.
- 13. Mr. and Mrs. Essingtons' ("the Essingtons") personal residence is located on Lot G-6 (the lot Artemis purchased). 1RA110.

///

- 14. The owners of the residential lots within RLE have the collective responsibility to maintain the roads and other common elements of the community. 1RA58-62, 107-108
- 15. Consistent with the Wrights' expressed "intent that a homeowners association would be created at some future point in time to assume the obligation of road and asset maintenance after all the lots were sold[,]" the Wrights formed Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association after the last lot sold in 1997, which thereafter functioned as a commoninterest community adopting budgets, collecting assessments, and maintaining roadways, perimeter fences, culverts, cattle guards, entrance sign, and providing weed abatement. 2RA402-405
- 16. The Architectural Review Committee ("ARC") was created pursuant to the CC&Rs. *Id.* The ARC served as the executive body of an association of lot owners established by Stephen Wright and referred to as Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association. *Id.*
- 17. After the Wrights sold all the lots in RLE, ARC members acted as the governing body of the informal Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association. *Id*.
- 18. The ARC, through Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association, regularly assessed lot owners within RLE for assessments. *Id.*

The assessments were used to maintain the roadways and perform weed and fire safety abatement within the community and in the adjoining ditches. *Id.*

- 19. The Essingtons recognized this collective responsibility well before the formation of RLEHOA in 2006 as evidenced by letters Mr. Essington wrote to their fellow homeowners in August 2005 for Lee Perks' review. Mr. Essington's letter emphasized the need for an association and the obligation of the collective homeowners to maintain the roads within RLE. 1RA109, 120-123
- 20. The Essingtons also prepared draft articles of incorporation for the proposed association. 1RA109, 143.
- 21. Mr. Perks filed the Articles of Association for RLEHOA January 16, 2006. 1RA67-171.
- 22. From 1994 to 2011, the Essingtons implicitly and expressly represented that they owned Lot G-6. Specifically, they wrote checks for RLEHOA assessments from their accounts. 1RA101-104. In August of 2006, Mrs. Essington sent a letter to Mr. Perks enclosing "our personal check in the amount of \$150. This amount will cover our Ruby Lakes Homeowners dues for 2006." 2RA205. Mr. Essington signed into member meetings as the owner of Lot G-6 and represented to members of RLEHOA that he had the capacity and authority to act on behalf of Artemis and/or

- Mrs. Essington. 1RA128, 132. Mr. Essington sent numerous communications to ARC members, the Board, and members of RLEHOA representing he was an owner of Lot G-6. 1RA120-123, 199, 201-203; 2RA205, 219, 221-223, 225-228.
- 23. Mr. Essington served as a member of the Board from 2007 until his resignation January 2011. 2RA318-319. Following his election to the Board, Mr. Essington signed a Declaration of Certification as a Common-Interest Community Board Member as required by NRS 116.31034(9). 2RA207.
- 24. As a Board member, Mr. Essington seconded a motion to approve the Bylaws of RLEHOA. 1RA126
- 25. These Bylaws, as approved by Mr. Essington, state: "An assessment fee will be charged yearly for maintenance, roads, fire protection, and other expenditures as the board allows or required by Elko County." 1RA190.
- 26. In 2006, RLEHOA sent a survey questionnaire to homeowners regarding the maintenance of the roadways, ditches, culverts, and other real property improvements that RLEHOA is required to maintain. 2RA329-331. The Essingtons completed one as "Artemis Exploration-Mel/Beth

Essington" and responded that they wanted RLEHOA to maintain the roadways. *Id*.

- 27. In this same survey, the Essingtons, as "Artemis Exploration-Mel/Beth Essington", indicated that they were *not* in favor of having Elko County provide road maintenance and that they were in favor of having RLEHOA provide road maintenance instead. *Id*.
- 28. As a member, Mr. Essington voted to levy assessments against all members for roadway maintenance, weed abatement, and the repair of signs and culverts. 1RA104-151; 2RA209-211, 219, 221-222, 249-260
- 29. Both before and during his tenure on the Board, Mr. Essington wrote letters to members of RLEHOA confirming the existence and necessity of RLEHOA, the necessity of enforcing the CC&Rs, the applicability of Chapter 116 to the RLE common-interest community and to RLEHOA, and the ability and responsibility of RLEHOA to levy and collect assessments for maintenance of the common elements. 1RA120-123, 199, 201-203; 2RA205, 219, 221-223, 225-228
- 30. In addition to the letters to homeowners, Mr. Essington wrote a letter addressed to the President of the Board January 14, 2007 emphasizing RLEHOA's obligation to comply with Chapter 116. 1RA201-203

- 31. Mr. Essington wrote to homeowners on October 13, 2008 emphasizing the fact that RLEHOA is a common-interest community responsible for maintaining common elements, including the roadways. 2RA221-223. Mr. Essington further wrote that because RLEHOA's budget did not have sufficient funds to repair the roads, it was necessary for RLEHOA to levy a temporary assessment. *Id.* Mrs. Essington thereafter paid the increased assessments as levied by the Board and as urged by her husband. 1RA101-104
- 32. In July 2009, the Board, of which Mr. Essington was a member, caused a Reserve Study to be prepared by an independent and licensed community association consultant as required by NRS 116.31153. 2RA230-247. The Reserve Study identified the common elements of RLEHOA as cattle guards, dirt road maintenance, fencing, gates, entrance signs, and street signs. *Id.* Mr. Essington met with and physically traveled to all common areas with the consultant. 1RA113-114
- 33. At the August 8, 2009 RLEHOA meeting with the Board and homeowners where the Reserve Study was discussed in detail, Mr. Essington voted to approve it. *Id.*; 2RA249-260 Mr. Essington also voted to levy assessments in accordance with the Reserve Study and the 2010 budget, which he also approved. 1RA113-114; 2RA249-260

- 34. Since RLEHOA's formation in 2006, budgets were adopted by members of RLEHOA and assessments have been levied for road maintenance, fire protection, and maintenance of RLEHOA's real property, including the gates, sign, culverts, cattle guards, and perimeter fencing. 1RA67-70, 134-151; 2RA209-211, 219, 221-223, 249-260 Mr. Essington approved these budgets and assessments to pay for maintenance of these community improvements at each annual meeting he attended from 2006 through and including 2010. 1RA125-132, 134-151; 2RA209-211, 219, 221-223, 249-260. The Essingtons paid these assessments without objection. 1RA101-104.
- 35. In 2009, a dispute arose between Mrs. Essington and ARC regarding the construction within RLE of a large building to house equipment. 2RA264, 269-270. On October 26, 2009, Mrs. Essington wrote a letter to the Board expressing her contempt for this structure. *Id.* The Board and ARC took the position that the structure was permitted. 2RA275-278.
- 36. The Essingtons disagreed with the Board and ARC, and thereafter commenced their campaign to have RLEHOA declared invalid because it no longer suited their needs. 2RA324-327, 333-334; 1AA1-20,

24-49, 121-145, 167-191. Although the Essingtons have since passed, their campaign continues through Artemis and the Wyatts.

37. Invoices generated in the ordinary course for RLEHOA were sent to Artemis in care of the Essingtons, but Artemis ceased paying its assessments, all of which Mr. Essington had approved as a Board member. 2RA302-316. RLEHOA was forced to retain a collection agency to try and collect Artemis' delinquent assessments. *Id*.

B. Procedural Background.

- 1. Artemis initially filed an Intervention Affidavit with the Ombudsman's Office December 18, 2009. 2RA333-334. On July 1, 2010, the Ombudsman's Office completed its case file review and issued its opinion: ". . . [I]t is our view that this Association is required to comply with the laws pertaining to homeowners associations, specifically, NRS 116 and related laws and regulations." *Id*.
- 2. On February 15, 2011, Artemis filed suit against RLEHOA in district court. 1AA1-20. The parties stipulated to dismiss this suit and agreed to "submit the matter to non-binding arbitration pursuant to NRS 38.310, and the parties' reserve[d] their rights to seek attorney's fees and costs arising out of this proceeding at arbitration." 3AA9.

- 3. Artemis then commenced with arbitration proceedings pursuant to NRS Chapter 38 on May 6, 2011. 2AA31-34.
- 4. The Arbitrator concluded that RLEHOA "is a Common-Interest Community and is subject to NRS Chapter 116. It is lawfully formed and is a validly existing non-profit common-interest association." 2AA33.
- 5. Undeterred by both the *Ombudsman Decision* and the *Arbitration Decision*, Artemis filed a complaint for trial de novo. 1AA24-49. The *Complaint* asserted causes of action for damages, fraud, and declaratory relief alleging that RLEHOA lacks authority to impose assessments, fees, or penalties because it is purportedly not a valid common interest community subject to Chapter 116. *Id.*; 1AA121-145, 167-191.
- 6. Artemis subsequently moved for partial summary judgment on its claim for a declaration that RLEHOA is not a valid association and, therefore, lacks the authority to impose assessments, fees, or penalties. 1AA81-91. RLEHOA also moved for summary judgment on this claim and Artemis' claims for fraud and damages.⁴ 1RA1-203; 2RA204-425.
- 7. On February 12, 2013 and February 14, 2013, the district court entered the *Summary Judgment Orders* denying Artemis' motion for partial

⁴ Artemis eventually abandoned its claims for fraud and damages, leaving only the declaratory relief claim. 2AA17.

summary judgment and granting RLEHOA's motion for summary judgment on Artemis' claim for declaratory relief. 1AA81-102.

- 8. On March 1, 2013, RLEHOA moved for an order confirming the arbitrator's decision and for an award of fees and costs. 3AA2. In this motion, RLEHOA requested fees and costs incurred from the arbitration totaling \$26,810.67 (\$22,092.00 in fees and \$4,718.67 in costs) and fees and costs incurred from the district court action totaling \$55,440.14 (\$53,904.00 in fees and \$1,536.14 in costs), for a total in fees and costs in the amount of \$82,250.81. 3AA13-55.
- 9. On March 1, 2013, RLEHOA filed its *Memorandum of Costs* for \$1,475.90. 3AA28-30. On March 29, 2013, RLEHOA filed a *Supplemental Memorandum of Costs* for \$60.24. 3AA40-41. Artemis *never* moved to retax costs under NRS 18.110(4). 3AA6.
- 10. On May 15, 2013, the district court granted RLEHOA's motion.3AA2.
- 11. On June 3, 2013, Artemis appealed the district court's May 15, 2013 Order to the Nevada Supreme Court. 3AA2. On June 6, 2013, the district court entered a *Judgment on an Arbitration Award and Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs*, awarding fees and costs to RLEHOA for \$82,250.81. *Id*.

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